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INTRODUCTION


On December 1, 2016, the Committee on Parks and Recreation, chaired by Council Member Mark Levine, will hold an oversight hearing, entitled “An Examination of Parks Department Properties Currently Inaccessible to the Public.” Representatives from the New York City Department of Parks and Recreation (DPR), as well as parks conservancies and alliances, parks advocates, environmental advocates and community organizations have been invited to testify.
BACKGROUND

DPR maintains one of the oldest and largest municipal park systems in the country.  DPR maintains about 29,000 acres of parkland, including almost 5,000 facilities that encompass nearly 1,000 playgrounds, 800 athletic fields, 550 tennis courts, 66 swimming pools, 48 recreation centers and 14 miles of beaches. These facilities are visited and used by millions of individuals every year.

Of the City’s 29,000 acres of parkland, approximately 10,000 acres are natural areas made of ponds, forests and other habitats.
 Natural areas filter and purify air, improve water quality and act as flood control.
 These forests and wetlands encompass over 2,000 species of plants and 350 species of birds.
  
DPR’s portfolio also includes many properties that would typically be open for public use or enjoyment, but have remained closed or inaccessible for a host of reasons. These properties include parts of the urban forest, various islands in the City’s waterways and numerous monuments located in certain parks.  The status of these properties will be the focus of the hearing.
North Brother Island

North Brother Island is one of thirteen undeveloped islands in the New York waterways under the jurisdiction of DPR.
  North Brother Island is a 20 acre island located in the East River, southeast of Port Morris, Bronx. Jurisdiction over the island was transferred to DPR from the Department of Citywide Administrative Services in 2001.
 It is currently a protected area and part of the Harbor Herons Region, a nationally recognized complex of uninhabited islands and expansive marshes essential for shorebirds.

In the late 19th Century, the City constructed a hospital on the island to quarantine and treat individuals with various communicable diseases.
 The City then expanded the number of facilities on the island as it grew to a sprawling complex of over 30 buildings used to treat individuals, house medical staff, and provide for infrastructure needs such as electricity, potable water, laundries, roads.
 The facilities even included a church, St. John By the Sea.
 The island’s most famous occupant was Typhoid Mary, who was quarantined there for 28 years up to and including her death in 1938.
 Eventually, medical operations ceased in 1944 and the Island was used for purposes including veteran housing until 1951 and as a drug rehab center until 1963, when the City completely abandoned the island and let all of its facilities deteriorate.


Today, the structures on the island remain, but are all in condemnable shape and unfit for human use. While the remnants of the hospital and associated building remain as dilapidated wood and masonry structures, they are decaying under the constant vine, tree, and shrub growth that has been reclaiming the island over the last forty years.
 The island now stands as a sanctuary for various bird life under DPR’s care and is classified, along with South Brother Island, as a “Harbor Herons Region,” a protected area for shorebirds to nest.
 DPR has also invested in reforestation projects, targeting invasive species and trying to kill the creeping kudzu and poison ivy that are festering on the island. Public access to the island is forbidden unless specifically permitted by the Department, as the island has been deemed unsafe for public use.

Over the years, the City has attempted to find new uses for the island since its abandonment in the 1960s.  Mayor Lindsay proposed selling it, Mayor Koch considered housing the homeless there and in the 1990s, the City considered expanding the facilities at Rikers Island to North Brother Island.
 The Council recently commissioned a study by the University of Pennsylvania’s School of Design to help find ways to make the island more accessible.
 The “North Brother Island Public Access Plan and Landscape Conservation Study” will explore ways to improve public access to the island and will involve a holistic study of the current conditions and future potential of the Island and engage South Bronx communities through partnership with The Point Community Development Corporation and other local stakeholders.

Prison Ship Martyrs Monument
The Prison Ship Martyrs Monument in Fort Greene Park was designed by architect Stanford White and dedicated in 1908. It consists of a 100-foot-wide granite staircase and a central Doric column 149 feet in height.
 The monument marks the site of a crypt for more than 11,500 men and women, known as the prison ship martyrs, who died of overcrowding, contaminated water, starvation, and disease while being held captive by the British on prison ships in the New York City waterways during the American Revolution and were hastily buried along the shore in a tomb near the current Brooklyn Navy Yard.
 Throughout the ensuing decades the monument was severely neglected and it fell into disrepair.
 The monument originally housed a staircase and elevator to the top observation deck, which featured a lighted urn with a beacon of light which could be seen for miles.
 Though the elevator was operational until the 1930s, it was removed by the City in the early 1970s after falling into disrepair.
  While the exterior received a needed renovation in 2008, today, the interior and observation deck of the Monument is normally closed to the public, with very limited access.
Grand Army Plaza (Soldiers’ and Sailors’ Arch)

Grand Army Plaza was one of the first features of Prospect Park to be built and marks the beginning of the Eastern Parkway, the world’s first parkway, which was also designed by Calvert Vaux and his partner Frederick Law Olmsted.
  The parkway’s intended purpose was to connect the City’s parks with ornamental roads free of commercial traffic.
 

The Grand Army Plaza (Soldiers’ and Sailors’ Arch) was constructed in 1889 and was dedicated in 1892 as the architectural firm of McKim, Mead and White began to formalize the entrance and transform the Grand Army Plaza into a classical space.
  The quadriga on the Arch was installed in 1898 and the Arch’s side sculptures were added in 1901 as the Plaza began to be referred to as Grand Army Plaza, honoring the Arch’s subject matter regarding the triumphant Union Army and Navy of the Civil War.
  

In 1973, the Arch was designated an official City landmark, and two years later, the entire Grand Army Plaza was designated as an official City landmark as well.
  In 1976, the Victory figure on the quadriga on top of the Arch fell out of its chariot.
  The Arch was restored in 1980 and again in 2000.
  The interior of the Arch is mostly closed to the public, however there are art shows and performances held inside the Arch on occasion.
  The eastern end is occasionally open to the public for these shows and the west end is only used for storage.
  The area around the Arch forms the largest and busiest traffic circle in Brooklyn, being the convergence of Flatbush Avenue, Vanderbilt Avenue, Eastern Parkway, Prospect Park West, and Union Street.

Hart Island
Hart Island was first used by the City as a public cemetery in 1869 for the burial of people who died indigent or whose bodies went unclaimed after their death.
 During the cemetery’s first year of operation, 1,875 burials were performed.
 Hart Island is the only location the City currently uses to bury the bodies of the unclaimed or unidentified;
 however, Hart Island was the tenth Potter’s Field in the City’s history, as previous fields were located at the current sites of Washington Square, Bellevue Hospital, Madison Square, the NYC Public Library, Wards Island and Randall’s Island.

The Department of Corrections (DOC) maintains and operates the City Cemetery, commonly known as Potter’s Field, located on Hart Island, in Long Island Sound, off the Coast of City Island in the Bronx.
 The cemetery occupies 101 acres of Hart Island and is purportedly the largest tax funded cemetery in the world.
 There are presently more than one million people buried in Potter’s Field, by many estimations.
  Those buried on the island are either unclaimed, unidentified, or have been sent to the island by their families because they could not afford a private burial.
 

Reports indicate that five days each week, the DOC brings approximately 30 inmates by bus from Riker’s Island to board a New York City Department of Transportation (“DOT”) ferry from City Island to Hart Island.
 These inmates are then responsible for burying the bodies of the indigent. The bodies of the deceased that are transported to the island are placed in pine boxes marked by black permanent marker, sometimes with a name, but usually just by a number used to identify the person.
 The boxes are stacked three deep in a trench 36 inches below the surface, burying between 150 to 162 adults and 1,000 infants per grave.
  

Access to Hart Island has changed significantly in recent years.  For many years, the DOC only permitted visitors by appointment, and only if they were related to a person buried at Potter’s Field and possessed a death certificate for such person.
 These visits were limited to a gazebo area, which is allegedly far from the gravesites and does not provide a view of the graves.
 Later, the DOC lifted its requirements that visitors be related to a person buried at Potter’s Field and instituted a regular ferry service; however, visits were still limited to the gazebo area.
 

Visitation policies have changed significantly since the settlement agreement reached in the NYCLU-led lawsuit, Lusero v. City of New York. This settlement agreement was announced in, and was effective in, July of 2015.
  Significant changes have been implemented based on this settlement, including:

1. Family members of the deceased may visit the gravesites of family members, with possible DOC escorts;

2. Visits must be scheduled in advance but may be done through the internet or phone;

3. Visitors may leave small mementos by the gravesite.

Notably, however, the options available due to this settlement are only available to family members of persons buried on Hart Island. For non-family members, the lawsuit does require that the DOC continue its pre-existing policy of permitting public visitation in the gazebo area near the ferry’s landing on Hart Island.
 As with visits for family members, these visits are available once per month and also require pre-registration.
 
The Croton Aqueduct 

The Old Croton Aqueduct was built between 1837 and 1842 and served as the City's first water supply system replacing the inadequate wells, springs, and ponds used until that time.
 The water supply came from the Croton River in Westchester County, and helped fuel a population boom and remained in service until 1958.
  Most of the 41 mile-long aqueduct lies underground, but there are a few structures that are still visible in the Bronx and Manhattan.
  

During the 1830’s, the City was in need of a fresh water supply to combat the rise of disease and also to fight numerous fires that often destroyed many businesses and homes.
  In 1837, after many proposals were submitted, construction began on a 41 mile aqueduct and dam to be built in order to run water from the Croton River to the City.
  In 1842, water flowed into above ground reservoirs located at the present sites of the New York Public Library and the Great Lawn of Central Park. 

The Croton Aqueduct cost the City approximately $13 million and was capable of carrying 100 million gallons of fresh water per day.  The goal was to provide the City with fresh water for centuries, however the population boomed at an astounding rate and the Croton Aqueduct could no longer meet the City’s needs by the early 1880’s.
  Construction of the New Croton Aqueduct began in 1885 and water began to flow by 1890.
  The Old Croton Aqueduct continued to provide water to the City until 1965
 and in 1968, the New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation purchased 26.2 miles of the original 41 mile aqueduct from the City.
  Presently, Old Croton Aqueduct State Historic Park is a linear park which runs from Van Cortlandt Park at the Bronx County/City of Yonkers border to the Croton Dam in Cortlandt.
 

The 119th Street Gatehouse was built in 1895 and served as the transition point between the inverted siphon and the standard pipe that brought the Croton water downtown.  It is currently vacant.  

The High Bridge Water Tower was built in 1872 and is approximately 170-feet tall.
  It was originally built as part of the Old Croton Water System to provide water pressure for the higher elevations of upper Manhattan.
  It contained a 47,000-gallon water tank and a pumping engine to force water up to the tank.
  The tower ceased to be used for water system purposes in 1949.
  Since then, renovations occurred in the late 1980’s to repair damage from a 1984 arson fire and the Parks Department periodically provided tours of the tower.
  The tower is now closed due to needed repairs.
   
New York State Pavilion

The New York State Pavilion (Pavilion) was designed by Philip Johnson and was constructed between 1962 and 1964 for the World’s Fair in Flushing Meadows-Corona Park.
   The Pavilion is a monumental concrete and steel structure combining a theater, three observation towers and a 100 foot high, open-air elliptical ring.
  The Pavilion was called the “Tent of Tomorrow,” and featured the world’s largest suspension roof and a 567-panel terrazzo road map of the Empire State.
  The map cost $1 million to construct and featured 50,000 square miles of New York State in meticulous detail, including cities, towns, highways, roads, and Texaco stations.
  

After the World’s Fair, the Pavilion remained in active use for a while as a roller skating rink and as a performance space by the Council for International Recreation, Culture, and Lifelong Education.
  However, by 1976, the tent’s roof was declared unstable and removed, leaving the elaborate map exposed to weather elements.
 

The Pavilion also included the adjacent “Theaterama,” which exhibited pop art works by Andy Warhol and Roy Lichtenstein and also screened a 360-degree film about the wonders of New York State, from Jones Beach to Niagara Falls.
  The space was converted to the Queens Playhouse in 1972 with its first production, George Bernard Shaw’s “Pygmalion,” opening in October of the same year.
  The theater continued to operate until 1985 and underwent a $4 million renovation and reopened in 1994.

The Pavilion is structurally stable, however it needs critical repairs and restoration after years of disuse.
  Recent studies have shown that it would cost approximately $14 million to demolish the Pavilion, $40 million to fully repair and preserve it, and up to $72 million to reopen it to accommodate a program of full reuse.

Soldiers and Sailors Monument

The Soldiers and Sailors Monument is located on 89th street in Riverside Park.
 It commemorates Union Army soldiers and sailors who served in the Civil War. 
 The monument was commissioned by the State of New York in 1893 and was designed by the Stoughton brothers, engineer Charles W. (1860–1944) and architect Arthur A. Stoughton (1867–1955).
  They won a public competition in 1897 with a design inspired by Greek antiquity. 
 Standing at 100 feet, the monument is a cylindrical form of white marble with 12 Corinthian columns and is capped with carved ornaments of eagles and cartouches.
 The design was based upon the ancient Choragic monument of Lysicrates (4th c. BC) in Athens, which was a common form used during the Greek Revival in during the 19th century in the Unites States.
 The first stone was laid in January 1900, with Governor Theodore Roosevelt officiating.
 It was completed in 1902 and has faced numerous periods of neglect and closure. In the early 1960s the City spent over $1 million in extensive repairs to the monument, including a new roof. 
 It was designated a landmark by the City in 1976. The interior includes a 50-foot-high cylindrical rotunda of carved marble that rises above five empty statuary niches and a great dome that is ornamented with green mosaic palm fronds and topped by an oculus.
 Currently, while the public can visit its exterior, the interior remains closed as the memorial awaits funding to repair loosened joints, chipped stone, and the damage generally wrought by time and vandalism. 

Washington Square Arch
The Washington Square Arch was built between 1890 and 1892, in Washington Square Park, to honor the centennial of the first president’s inauguration.
 The Arch is composed mostly of marble and was designed by architect Stanford White and replaced a wooden arch erected in 1889 to honor the centennial of President Washington’s inauguration.
 Statues of Washington were later installed on the Arch's north side (Washington as Commander-in-Chief, Accompanied by Fame and Valor (1916) by Hermon MacNeil, and Washington as President, Accompanied by Wisdom and Justice (1918) by Alexander Stirling Calder.”
 It remains one of the City’s most recognized landmarks.
 It has received multiple renovations, recently in 1997 and 2004 as part of the larger renovation of Washington Square Park.
 However today, the interior is closed to the public, with no access to its roof for fear that the roof and ceiling structure cannot safely accommodate visitors.

CONCLUSION

At hearing this hearing, the Committee will highlight the fact that the benefits of the park system extend beyond parks and playgrounds to a vast array historical sites and monuments. The Committee will examine what efforts are needed to bring all of these sites into full functionality and hopes to determine what specific courses of action the City can take to ensure that these properties are properly maintained over the long term and are eventually made fully accessible to the public.
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